CocKEY's TAVERN

An Architectural and Historical Analysis

The Cockey’s Tavern property is located on lot 44, and part of lot 43, of the original 45 lots of Westminster, or
Winchester Town, that were laid out by William Winchester in 1764 and platted in 1768. While many of the lots
were supposed to have sold quickly, lots 44 and 45 were not sold by Winchester until 1788. Each lot was
approximately %2 acre, and they were both purchased by Andrew Reese, a joiner, for £20, with a yearly ground rent
of 15 shillings due to Winchester. Local tradition suggests that lot 44 had a frame building constructed on it ¢.1790,
and since Reese was a joiner this seems plausible, but there are no buildings listed in the 1798 tax assessment. The
tax list notes that Reese held two lots, and that they were apparently being rented by Jacob Kesender and Jeremiah
Tarlton, but whether these men were renting buildings or vacant land is not clear. Reese also owned a 102 acre
farm, which had a new log house and a barn, and that is apparently where he was living. Andrew Reese sold both
lots to Dr. George Colegate in 1810 for $1600, a sum sufficient enough to suggest that there were improvements on
at least one of these lots.(1)

At this point the history of the property becomes confused. According to a deed of 1825, William H. McCannon
was sued in the Circuit Court of Frederick County in 1821, and a writ was issued in December of that year ordering

the sheriff to seize his property. The property was offered at public sale in June, 1822, . .. at the house of William
H. McCannon, in Westminster . ..,” and included furniture and a lot in town “. . . with a valuable two story brick
house thereon erected . . . .” Though it is nowhere stated that this lot is lot 44, it is noted that the lot is one of the

two that Dr. Colegate purchased from Andrew Reese. Lot 45, where Dr. Colegate lived, remained in the possession
of his widow until 1846, so McCannon’s lot must be lot 44. There were no bidders for the brick house, but another
suit at this time, by the Bank of Westminster against McCannon and Dr. Colegate, resulted in two more writs to the
sheriff. To further complicate matters, Dr. Colegate died in May, 1822, at the age of 39, while the court cases were
being heard. In December, 1822 the sheriff was finally able to sell McCannon’s property. It was purchased by
Frederick Schley and Mary Colegate for $2,027.44.(2)

Frederick Schley was apparently a Frederick attorney who acted as a trustee for Colegate’s estate, and Mary
Colegate was the doctor’s widow. Her maiden name was McCannon (they were married in 1810, the same year Dr.
Colegate bought his two lots), and William H. McCannon was presumably her brother. Unfortunately, there is no
record of a court case against McCannon (or Colegate) in the Frederick County Equity Docket to clarify what the



deeds and newspapers tell us, and there was never any deed from Colegate to McCannon. However, Katharine



The moldings used are symmetrical, and employ
corner blocks. These are rarely seen in Carroll County
until the late 1830's. The earliest known use of the lancet
profile, seen here on the doorway to the west-center
room, is in the Robert Mills-designed Richard Potts
House in Frederick, of 1817-19. Mount Pleasant, outside
of Union Bridge, also has this feature, and dates to
€.1818-1823. Thus, its use at Cockey’s puts the building
at the stylistic forefront for the region. This should not
be too surprising, though, since the use of the
entablatures over the wide doorways, and the panels over
the narrow doorways, are also unusual, and much grander
than what is typically found. Regardless of its intended Detail, first floor doorway
function when it was constructed, the Cockey’s Tavern
building was meant to impress.

It also must be kept in mind that the building at 218 E.
Main Street was apparently part of the tavern property,
and seems to have been built contiguously with the
tavern, perhaps as the tavern keeper’s residence. No
photograph of Cockey’s Tavern has been found dating
from the nineteenth century, so we do not know what it
looked like, but it may have been similar to 218 E. Main
Street. The 1887 Sanborn map shows both as 2 %2 story
buildings, while most other buildings are two stories, or
occasionally three. Additional research on that building,
and a careful analysis of its fabric, may help in the
understanding of Cockey’s Tavern.(7)

218 East Main Street

Perhaps because of these financial setbacks, Joshua Cockey decided to leave Maryland, and advertised in
November, 1833 that all his real estate, including the hotel, was to be disposed of. The hotel was worthy of attention
because it was located on the Baltimore to Pittsburg Turnpike. Cockey then announced in early 1835 that he had
moved to Baltimore, where he was operating the Wheatfield Inn, and was offering his Westminster building for
rent. Later in 1835, owing the Bank of Westminster $6,000, Cockey turned the property over to John Fisher, as
trustee. At the same time, Elias Hunt noted in the local paper that he had taken over operation of Cockey’s
Hotel. The following year Fisher advertised that he was renting Cockey’s Tavern, rather than selling it. Perhaps
Fisher believed he would not get sufficient money for the property, or perhaps he had an arrangement with
Cockey. In any case, the tax assessments for this period corroborate these transactions. In 1835 Mary Colegate held
one lot, with a brick house, Cockey held 4 3/4 lots, with a brick tavern on at least one of them, and the bank held two
lots with a brick house. By 1841 Joshua Cockey was gone, there was no change in Mrs. Colegate’s situation, and
the bank, in addition to a banking house, also had a brick tavern stand. The bank continued to control the tavern or
hotel in 1852. Unfortunately, no record of who was operating the enterprise in this period has been found. (8)

In his book on Westminster, Chris Weeks repeats local tradition that the Cockey’s Tavern building was the home
of Dr. William Willis. Willis practiced in Westminster for many years. His account book (in the HSCC collection)
records his daily visits in 1822 at $1.50 per day. Willis became a Lt. Colonel of the Maryland Militia in 1833 and
later commanded a local militia unit called the Westminster Guards. Weeks also repeats the tradition that, after the
founding of Carroll County in 1837, that the county court met in Dr. Willis' home during construction of the new
court house. Willis was appointed Clerk of the Court in 1837. He, however, never owned the property, which in
1837 was under the control of the bank, and was being leased, apparently as a tavern and hotel. It is not known who
was leasing the property at that time, so it may have been Dr. Willis. Alternately, Dr. Willis could have been living
at the hotel. Willis was one of the executors, along with Joshua Cockey, of John C. Cockey’s estate, so he was
clearly very close to them. Such a large building for the period, which was already a meeting spot for the
community, and with a large room like it has on the southeast, would have been a natural choice for a governmental
body. Dr. Willis died in December, 1841, and did not own any real estate, but the substance of the tradition could
very well be true. An ad in the Westminster Carrolltonian noted the sale of Willis' personal property included 2
slaves - a woman of 32 and a young man of 16 - slaves for life; household and kitchen furniture; books; and medical



instruments.(9)

John Brook Boyle

John Fisher, the trustee for the Cockey’s Tavern
property, sold the building to the bank in 1862, just a year
before he died. The bank, in turn, sold the property to
John Brooke Boyle in 1872 for $4500. Col. Boyle was
born in Taneytown in 1811 and was educated at Mount
Saint Mary's College. He was appointed Chief Justice of
District Court in 1835 and, in 1837, was elected a
member of Carroll County's first delegation of the House
of Delegates.

Boyle's two sons served in the Confederate Army, the
only men from Taneytown known to have done so. This
may explain why Boyle's home at 79 W. Main St. was
chosen by Confederate cavalry commander Col. Thomas
Rosser as his headquarters during his unit's occupation of
Westminster in September, 1862. That house is still
known today as "Rosser's Choice."

Boyle later served as Secretary and Treasurer of the Western Maryland Railroad. He was active in Carroll
County politics and his obituary noted that "he exercised a potent influence in the affairs of the Democratic
Party." Boyle is buried in St. John's Roman Catholic Cemetery, Westminster.

The location of the Cockey’s Tavern building probably drew Boyle, as it is in close proximity to the
courthouse. Other attorneys and judges were building new homes or altering existing ones in the immediate area in
the 1870's, including Boyle’s nephew, Charles B. Roberts, on Court Street and James A. C. Bond, on Main Street,

across from Court Street.



Newel post and balusters, first floor staircase Balusters, third floor staircase

Boyle sold the building at 218 E. Main Street to his daughter, Helen Irwin, in 1886, and he sold the Cockey’s
Tavern building to another daughter, Elizabeth Key Fink, in 1893. Elizabeth had married Charles E. Fink, a
Westminster attorney, so the location of the building near the courthouse remained important to the owner. Boyle
sold the property with one restriction, a life tenancy for his daughter, Mary B. Boyle, who was given " ... full free
and undisturbed use and occupancy of two rooms in the house . . . that is to say the room on the second floor
fronting on main street next to the premises conveyed by me to Helen J. Irwin . . . and also the front Hall room
adjoining the other room last above mentioned and that the said Mary B. Boyle shall have the privilege of opening a
door-way between the said two rooms and also of closing up the door leading from said first mentioned room to the
small hallway, in the rear thereof . .. ."

Mary Boyle was meant to have the east bedroom, but there is no doorway cut through from this room to the
small, front center room (see second floor plan). Instead, a doorway is cut from the north bedroom to this room,
and the trim here is consistent with an 1890's date. Thus, it would seem that, for unknown reasons, Elizabeth Fink
and her sister arranged to switch the room in which Mary Boyle would live.(11)

Just as John Brooke Boyle had made fashionable
alterations to his house, Charles Fink eventually did the
same. In May, 1905, the American
Sentinel reported: “Chas. E. Fink, Esq. is having his
residence on East Main street remodeled in accordance
with plans furnished by Mr. J. A. Dempwolf, architect, of
York, Pa. A mansard roof or story will be added, bay
windows put in the front and new and larger windows
substituted for the other front and side ones. ... Mr.
Charles B. Hunter is contractor for the work.”

Bay window added to front facade, 1905

Dempwolf was responsible for the design of a large number of York area buildings in the late-nineteenth and early-
twentieth centuries, and designed several buildings in Carroll County, most notably St. Benjamin’s Evangelical
Lutheran Church near Westminster, of 1890-91, and St. Mary’s Lutheran Church in Silver Run, built between 1894
and 1896. Westminster had its own capable architect in Paul Reese, who had lived just a few doors away from the
Finks in the Shellman House, but he was probably not available to help them because he was completing work on
“The Hills,” Guy Steele’s house at 45 Washington Road in Westminster, in early 1905. With its completion, Reese
left for an extended trip to Rio de Janeiro. Charles Hunter was a major builder in Westminster, and was the
contractor for “The Hills.” The newspaper account clearly indicates some of the work done to the house, including
the bay windows and the mansard roof (actually a gambrel). The general intent of the work was to make the
building more “Colonial,” as the Colonial Revival had been growing in popularity since the Centennial celebration
in Philadelphia in 1876.(12)



The account also notes that the windows were made larger. It is clear from an examination of the sash that they
are of this period, and are not earlier sash that were altered. The window openings do not appear to have been
widened on the exterior, though a close examination is not possible because the shutters are now fixed in
place. There do appear to be some broken bricks on several courses just above the sill, however, that suggest that
the sills have been lowered. The addition of wood cornices over the windows, also from this period, disguise any
changes made here to enlarge the openings. The window architrave is consistent with the earliest period of
construction, but actually dates to the 1905 renovations. Dempwolf copied the original trim for most of the rooms
on both the first and second stories, but did not get the proportions exact, and did not include the bead on the inner
edge of the symmetrical architrave that all the original trim has. A comparative analysis of the chromo-chronology
of the original door trim and the later window trim confirms this. The window openings are unusually wide for the
construction period, ¢.1820, which suggests the possibility that the original window sash were set into large frames
that were mortised and tenoned and pegged together, a treatment that is very common in buildings constructed
before ¢.1830.

Other work in Cockey’s Tavern was not explicitly
described in the brief newspaper account. The front
entrance columns and pediment date from this period. A
vestibule was created by adding a short wall with a door
(now missing) and leaded glass sidelights and transom
across the front of the passage. A tile floor and wood
half-paneling was added here, as well. The openings to
the two front rooms may have always been wide (it is not
possible to tell now) as they were in the northwest suite
of rooms, but they were probably widened by Dempwolf,
as became popular in the late nineteenth century, so that
rooms flowed into one another. This is suggested
because the doorway to the west-center room, which is
original, is narrow, and one would expect consistency
between this doorway and the doorway to the north
room. In any case, the widened doorways were given a
new architectural treatment, with Doric columns and a
classical cornice. The passage and rooms themselves
were also given a classical cornice, and the west-center
room, which received a bay window, was given a cornice
and half-paneling. Based on the chromo-chronology, all
three first story mantels were replaced, and the fireboxes
of the two front rooms were rebuilt. All of them have
moldings that are characteristic of the early nineteenth
century vernacular work of the region, not the Colonial
Revival, and thus have a different “feel” from the more
academically correct cornices and doorway columns,
which were probably stock millwork. If the mantels were
actually added by Dempwolf, they seem to have been
designed for the house, and suggest that he, or one of his —_— —_ -
architects, had a good understanding of local vernacular — —
carpentry. More detailed investigation is warranted
before making any definitive conclusions about the age
of the mantels. Columns were added in the passage,
beneath an existing arch under the stairs, to create a
screen between the front section and rear wing. This
necessitated narrowing the arch, and the seams where
these pieced-in sections were added to the arch are
clearly visible.

The front entrance columns and pediment, widened



doorways and columns in the front hall, and first floor
mantels were among the alterations made in 1905.

On the second story, a doorway was cut through the stair landing and a passage created in the northeast end of
the porch, along with two rooms to the south of it. The passage was continued along the southeast wall of the two
ell rooms by cutting a doorway through what was originally the exterior brick wall and building a new frame wall on
the southeast side of first the north end and later the south end ell rooms. This reduced the size of both of these
rooms, but added overall privacy, as they were originally only accessible through the west-center chamber. A
second passage was probably created at the time the south ell room was divided to create the passage along the
southeast. This second passage was between the two ell rooms and along the northwest side of the southern ell
room. This passage leads to a closet in the west corner of the ell, which seems like a great waste of space. Its
purpose is not known at this time. The Sanborn maps do not indicate any changes to the porches, but the round-
arched sash in the southeast wall of the passage is consistent with the other 1905 changes. This suggests that the
northern-most room in the porch was enclosed at this time. There are wood columns partially exposed in the fire-
damaged walls of the south porch room, suggesting that this part of the porch remained open, or became a sleeping
porch for the Finks. The dormer windows were added, of course, with the roof. The third floor was laid out with a
transverse passage, with a large room in the front center that reads as a sitting room, large rooms in the four corners
that each had their own sink, and two small rooms flanking the original stairway. Earlier photographs show that the
building was painted, and though it has been stripped, there is still evidence that it was once painted a brick red with
white penciling, or mortar lines. This could date from as early as the construction of the building, as such a paint
treatment was noted in Lancaster in 1801, (13) but could also have been used to conceal changes in the brick work
made in the 1905 alterations. The brick work below the first story windows has been altered or repaired on several
occasions, for as yet unknown reasons, and this could be one of a number of changes that it was sought to hide.

Local tradition states that the Finks held many elegant
socials in their house, but just how long they lived at their
Cockey’s Tavern property is not known. The 1905 notice
of work on the building describes it as Fink’s residence,
and one would expect that he would not make such
substantial changes to a building in which he was neither
living or working. However, Fink owned a house on
Court Street, which is clearly indicated in the 1896 tax
_ assessment and may be among the number of properties
Ul l + he held prior to that date (the earlier tax assessment is not

“ & clear on this). A 1914 notice in the newspaper states that
' a fresh coat of paint is being applied to the residence of
I Mr. Charles E. Fink, Court street.” While such notes are
& hardly definitive, this suggests that the Finks had moved
to Court Street by that time, if not sooner. Why they
would have moved, so soon after investing so much on
. improvements, is not known. Clearly, the whole story has
The Charles Fink home, ¢.1910 yet to be gleaned from available sources.(14)

Other changes were made to the building since the Fink’s renovations. In 1922 it was acquired by Frank and
Mary Hoffman, and at some point became Hoffman’s Inn, a boarding house and eatery that still has a reputation in
the community for good home cooking, even though the establishment closed in 1969. Proprietress Thelma
Hoffman well-known in Westminster and an article by a family member provided a vivid description of life at her
establishment: “The sign our front says simply 'Hoffiman’s Inn." If it is morning when the timid stranger rings the
bell to inquire for food and lodging, he may be greeted by Jim, vacuum cleaner in hand. 'Miss Thelma ain’t here.
She’s down buying out the A.& P." If its in the afternoon, one of he maids may whisper through the aperture, 'Miss
takin’ her nap now and we don’t ever wake her up.’ If it is right before dinner, a sympathetic boarder may swing
open the door. 'Take my advice, sir, and don’t bother Thelma when she’s rushing around getting food on the tables.
She’ll snap your head off.' ...the shy visitor may hesitate on the threshold. Suddenly, however, he becomes
conscious of the tantalizing whiffs of steaming, savory food curling in his nostrils. He is a changed man. Stepping
eagerly into the hall and closing the door definitely behind him, he says firmly, 'T’ll wait.'. .. The timid stranger
waiting in the living room is pleasantly surprised to see Thelma appear, not the ogre he had pictured her, but a lady
sweet and friendly, calm after her culinary storm, sufficiently mellowed to say, 'I guess I can take you if you don’t
mind sleeping in the wigwam. That’s the little back room off the porch.! He doesn’t know it yet but he is going to




have to buy a suit a size larger next year.”

This photo of a local “Poker Club” was taken in the
dining room at Hoffman's Inn in 1955. Standing: Ben
Thomas, Paul Whitmore, Miller Richardson and Ralph
Bonsack Seated: Frank Leidy, Norman Boyle (grandson
of John Brooke Boyle), John Cunningham, Howard
Brown, Theodore Brown

Hoffman's Inn was succeeded by “Cockey’s Tavern,” a restaurant that re-adopted the building's earlier
name.(15) At some point during the ownership of these two businesses, the partition wall between the north and
west-center chambers of the second story was removed and the door to the west-center chamber closed off on the
chamber side. A new wall and doorway was added in the second story passage, closing off the stairway from the
front center room. The southeast end of the cross-passage was closed off to create a bathroom. More serious
changes were made to the ell. There was likely a wall dividing the ell into two rooms on the first story, though until
some demolition work is done there is no way to confirm or refute this. The ell has been converted to a commercial
kitchen, with part of the southeast wall, which was a brick wall, removed and the porch on the southeast extended
and enclosed. This work is consistent with the period of the Hoffman’s ownership, and not with the second
Cockey’s Tavern incarnation. At least the southern part of the porch was probably open after the Finks made their
changes, as there is at least one wood column buried in part of the wall that now encloses this section. As much
material has been removed or destroyed by the recent fire in the porch, we will likely never know its complete, and
very complicated, history. The fireplace on the southwest end of this kitchen, which was presumably a cooking
fireplace, is not accessible for examination at this time, but may have undergone considerable changes. The opening
to the northeast was enclosed, probably at the same time that the bar was constructed in the west-center room. This
work was done for the conversion back to Cockey’s Tavern. Since the southwest end of the ell was probably the
kitchen, and the northeast end of the ell had a wide opening into the west-center room, it stands to reason that the ell
was divided by a wall into two rooms, as this would segregate the bustle of the kitchen from the public spaces. A
bathroom was added to the south end of the passage in the second story of the ell, and a window was cut through the
chimney flue on the southwest end of the ell.

An arson fire in March 2000 severely damaged the
building, destroying an enclosed frame rear porch and
forcing the restaurant to close. HSCC acquired the
property in November 2000.

Rear porch after fire
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